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I. INTRODUCTION

Antitrust is gaining in importance in the Fifth Circuit, and the Fifth
Circuit is becoming more notable in the formulation of antitrust law, with
the 1977 term being a banner year. In addition to diverse procedural issues,
key cases involved group boycotts, division of markets, tying, monopoliza-
tion, merger, and exemptions from antitrust prohibitions. Indicative of the
significance of the litigation before the court is the prominence of many of
the parties: corporations, including International Telephone and Tele-
graph Corporation, Kentucky Fried Chicken Corporation, Nissan Motor
Corporation, Philip Morris Inc., United States Steel Corporation, Volk-
swagen of America, Inc.,' and Wilson Sporting Goods Co.; and sporting
associations, such as the American Quarter Horse Association, the Na-
tional Collegiate Athletic Association, and the Professional Golfers' Asso-
ciation of America. Several of the year's cases involve issues of such note
that the Supreme Court will review them. Like the Fifth Circuit decisions
of 1976, the recent decisions can be expected to fare well in the higher
Court.

1. EXEMPTIONS

The most significant antitrust work of the Fifth Circuit has been in the
refinement of the scope of antitrust exemptions. The court's 1976 decision
in City of Lafayette v. Louisiana Power & Light Co.,2 holding that the
actions of a city are not automatically excluded from antitrust coverage by
the state action exemption, was recently affirmed by the Supreme Court.3

Whitworth v. Perkins,' another state action exemption case involving a
town and its officials, is pending on appeal in the Supreme Court. Certior-
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1. In this case, Heatransfer Corp. v. Volkswagenwerk, A.G., 553 F.2d 964 (5th Cir. 1977),
a judgment for treble damages of $15,000,000 was sustained.

2. 532 F.2d 431 (5th Cir. 1976), discussed in Staton and Ross, Antitrust Developments,
28 MERCER L. REv. 795, 804 (1977).

3. City of Lafayette v. Louisiana Power & Light Co., - U.S. - , 98 S. Ct. 47, 55
L.Ed.2d 364 (1978).

4. 559 F.2d 378 (5th Cir. 1977).
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ari has been granted in United States v. National Broiler Marketing Ass 'n,5

involving the Capper-Volstead exemption of farmers, and in Royal Drug
Co. v. Group Life & Health Ins. Co.,' involving the McCarran-Ferguson
Act exemption of insurance. In both of these latter cases, the Justice De-
partment is actively seeking to narrow the interpretation of statutory ex-
emptions;7 the Fifth Circuit decisions are in step with this announced
federal policy. Each significant exemption case' decided by the Fifth Cir-
cuit this term has limited the scope of the exemption involved.

In Lafayette, the Supreme Court' held that municipalities are "persons"
within the meaning of the Sherman Act and thus may be defendants as
well as plaintiffs thereunder."° The court additionally held that the state
action exemption of Parker v. Brown" does not exclude all acts of a munici-
pality from antitrust scrutiny. The plurality concluded from Goldfarb'2

and Bates'3 that the exemption was only available to official conduct di-
rected by the state." The Chief Justice, while urging further requirements
for the application of the exemption, 5 agreed with the plurality that "the
threshold inquiry . . . is whether the activity is required by the State
acting as sovereign.""

Although decided prior to the Supreme Court's ruling in Lafayette,
Whitworth v. Perkins" is in accord with it. In Whitworth, the owner of
land in a town sued the town, its officials, and certain private prarties,
alleging a conspiracy to use the city's zoning ordinance to exclude plaintiff
from the sale of alcoholic beverages in competition with some of the con-
spirators. The district court concluded that the ordinance was valid under

5. 550 F.2d 1380 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. granted, 98 S. Ct. 260, 54 L.Ed.2d 173 (1977).
6. 556 F.2d 1375 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. granted, 98 S. Ct. 1448, 55 L.Ed.2d 494 (1978).
7. Speech by John H. Shenefield, Assistant Attorney General, before the Federal Bar

Association (March 10, 1978).
8. Lawyer's Realty Corp. v. Peninsular Title Ins. Co., 550 F.2d 1035 (5th Cir. 1977), is

the fourth decision in this area. The court, per curiam, affirmed the district court's holding
that a suit by a title insurance agent against two title insurers, alleging a conspiracy to
exclude him from the title insurance business by obtaining the cancellation of his insurance
license by the Louisiana Commissioner of Insurance did not state a claim under the antitrust
laws; the alleged conduct fell within the exemption of the McCarran-Ferguson Act because
it was regulated by the Louisiana Insurance Code. The case is thus a straightforward applica-
tion of the statutory exemption following Crawford v. American Title Ins. Co., 518 F.2d 217
(5th Cir. 1975).

9. This is a case to restore one's faith in the judicial process. The Supreme Court produced
five separate opinions and split five to four on the decision. One of the three parts of the
plurality opinion may be called the opinion of the Court since the Chief Justice joined in that
portion of the plurality opinion and in the conclusion, thus narrowly establishing a majority.

10. 55 L.Ed.2d at 371-73.
11. 317 U.S. 341 (1943).
12. Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar, 421 U.S. 773 (1975).
13. Bates v. State Bar of Ariz., __ U.S. - , 97 S.Ct.2691, 53 L.Ed2d 810 (1977).
14. 55 L.Ed.2d at 382.
15. Id. at 391.
16. Id. at 390, quoting from Goldfarb, 421 U.S. at 790 (emphasis in original).
17. 559 F.2d 378 (5th Cir. 1977).
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Texas law and therefore that plaintiff's claim was barred. Any damage he
suffered resulted from the ordinance and not the conspiracy. The court of
appeals reversed, holding that the allegation that the enactment and en-
forcement of the ordinance were part of the conspiratorial activities in
restraint of trade was sufficient to withstand a motion for summary
judgment.

United States v. National Broiler Marketing Ass'n ' presents the issue
of whether broiler integrator companies which neither own nor operate
farms are farmers partially exempt from the antitrust laws under the
Capper-Volstead Act." Integrator companies are vertically integrated pro-
cessors of chickens. They own and operate processing plants and, fre-
quently, feed mills, hatcheries, and breeder flocks. They do not raise the
chicks to maturity. Contract growers perform this service at the growers'
own farms with their own labor, although ownership of the chicks remains
in the integrators, who also supply feed and veterinary services.

Faced with a novel issue of statutory interpretation, the court commend-
ably turned first to the language of the Act. Exempted are those "engaged
in the production of agricultural products as farmers, planters, ranchmen,
dairymen, nut or fruit growers."' The court concluded that broiler integra-
tors were not farmers in "the ordinary, popular sense of the word."' This
conclusion was bolstered by the legislative history: the Senate rejected an
amendment which would have extended the exemption to sugar refiners
that entered into pre-planting contracts with farmers." Further support
was gathered from decisions under other statutes that broiler integrators
were not farmers.2 1 Considering all of these factors, the court concluded
that the exemption did not apply to "companies that prepare farm prod-
ucts for market." 4 Broiler integrators are thus not exempt under Capper-
Volstead.

The question of statutory exemption presented by Royal Drug Co. v.
Group Life & Health Ins. Co.2 is more difficult. Defendant engaged in the
prescription drug insurance business in Texas using the name Blue Shield.
Blue Shield's policy was exempted by the Commissioner of Insurance from
approval requirements. 2' To provide benefits under the policy, Blue Shield
entered into Pharmacy Agreements with drug stores in areas where a group

18. 550 F.2d 1380 (5th Cir. 1977).
19. 7 U.S.C.A. §§291-92 (1964 & Supp. 1978).
20. 7 U.S.C.A. §291 (1964 & Supp. 1978).
21. 550 F.2d at 1386.
22. Id. at 1388.
23. See, e.g., Bayside Enterprises, Inc. v. NLRB, __ U.S. -, 97 S.Ct. 576, 50 L.Ed.2d

494 (1977), in which the Supreme Court upheld the NLRB's determination that broiler
integrators were not farmers under the Fair Labor Standards Act.

24. 550 F.2d at 389.
25. 556 F.2d 1375 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. granted, 98 S. Ct. 1448, 55 L.Ed. 2d 494 (1978).
26. Id. at 1378. This occurred in 1969. In 1974 a similar policy was approved by the State

Board of Insurance.
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policy had been issued. Under the Pharmacy Agreement, prices charged
by participating pharmacies were fixed. Blue Shield's subscribers received
greater insurance benefits when they purchased drugs from a participating
pharmacy rather than a non-participant. Plaintiffs, non-participating
pharmacies, alleged price fixing and group boycott, both per se violations
of §1 of the Sherman Act. Defendants, Blue Shield and certain participat-
ing pharmacies, urged the McCarran-Ferguson Actn as an exemption of
their activities from antitrust coverage. The issue presented was whether
the Pharmacy Agreements constituted the business of insurance. The dis-
trict court held that the exemption was applicable; the court of appeals
reversed. Although acknowledging that several district courts had reached
the contrary conclusion,"8 the Fifth Circuit decided that the terms of the
plan regulating the prices charged and granting more advantageous bene-
fits to patrons of participating pharmacies are not part of the business of
insurance." The Pharmacy Agreement is intended to benefit Blue Shield
and not its policyholders. The agreement is not necessary in order for Blue
Shield to provide the benefit required under the insurance policy. The
McCarran-Ferguson Act does not prevent scrutiny under antitrust stan-
dards.

Differing policy considerations may require different treatment of the
issues presented by these two cases. It would seem that no significant
national policy would be served by the exemption of the National Broiler
Marketing Ass'n from antitrust coverage. In fact, it is precisely at the
processing and distribution levels that we ought to be particularly con-
cerned about anticompetitive.activities in agricultural products. However,
one cannot be so certain of the policies involved in Blue Shield's prescrip-
tion drug insurance plan and similar prepaid medical, dental, and legal
service plans. It can be argued that service agreements with providers are
necessary and that prices must be set in such agreements if the prepaid
programs are to remain financially sound. Hopefully the Supreme Court
will address the question of the proper balance of the competing policy
goals in this emerging area.

Im. DISTRIBUTION AND FRANCIWSING

Three cases decided by the court examine various antitrust issues arising
in the context of vertical relations. The court in Universal Brands, Inc. v.
Philip Morris, Inc. 10 held, over a vigorous dissent, that a wholesale distrib-
utor, terminated as the result of the substitution of a new importer and
exclusive national distributor of Lowenbrau beer for the previous supplier,

27. 15 U.S.C.A. §§1011-1015 (1975).
28. See the cases collected by the court, 556 F.2d at 1385.
29. The court began its analysis by expressing the desirable policy that statutory exemp-

tions from the antitrust laws are to be strictly construed. 556 F.2d at 1380.
30. 546 F.2d 30 (5th Cir. 1977).

[Vol. 29



ANTITRUST

lacked standing to attack the importation and national distribution agree-
ment as a violation of §7 of the Clayton Act. Although plaintiffs §1 com-
plaint was clearly without merit,"' questions arise about the holding on the
Clayton Act claim, particularly since plaintiff was seeking only injunctive
relief and not treble damages.

Prior to 1975, Lowenbrau beer was distributed in the eastern United
States by Hans Holterbosch, Inc. Holterbosch, in turn, sold Lowenbrau to
plaintiff, the exclusive wholesale distributor of the brand in southeast
Florida. In 1974 Lowenbrau-Munchen, A.G. entered into a contract ap-
pointing Philip Morris the exclusive importer and distributor in the United
States. Philip Morris' rights were to take effect in the eastern United
States upon the expiration of Holterbosch's rights the following year.
Philip Morris, which owns Miller Brewing Company, began distributing
Lowenbrau beer through its existing network of Miller beer distributors.
As soon as Philip Morris replaced Holterbosch, plaintiff was terminated,
being succeeded in southeast Florida by three Miller beer distributors.

The facts are clear; the parties did not dispute them. Yet, the characteri-
zation of the situation by the majority and the dissent are so drastically
different that one wonders if the two opinions deal with the same case.3"

The majority opinion, by Judge Coleman, characterizes the defendants'
conduct as a refusal to deal:

Universal's case boils down to an argument that although it had never
had a contractual relationship with either Lowenbrau or Philip Morris and
had depended solely on a source of supply which dried up on the expira-
tion of the source's contract, an expiration which would have occurred in
the absence of any Lowenbrau-Philip Morris contract, it may now bring
an antitrust action against those who chose not to give the source a new
contract.3

It is unclear what this had to do with §7, particularly since the majority
does not mention that section or its requirements, much less analyze plain-
tiff's case in light of them. If it were not for the illumination provided by
the dissent, one might well conclude that there is no issue presented by
the pleadings.

Judge Tjoflat's dissent does concern itself with §7. Noting the trend
toward increasing concentration in the beer industry, he analyzes the re-
quirements of §7 and concludes that there is a disputed issue of fact "as
to whether the acquisition of Lowenbrau by Miller amounts to a section 7

31. The district judge and all of the appellate judges all agreed on this point.
32. Much of this difficulty may be attributable to counsel, who seem to have afforded

minimal assistance to the court. For example, both parties agreed that the "target area" test
of standing governed the case, although that test is only applicable to standing to recover
damages under §4 of the Clayton Act. It was only due to the court's diligence that this
erroneous standard was not applied. 546 F.2d at 34.

33. Id. at 35.
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violation."" Judge Tjoflat concludes that summary judgment is improper
if Universal has standing.13 He finds that it does."

The dissent is attractive, particularly since it addresses the issues under
§7, a virtue not possessed by the majority opinion. However, many ques-
tions remain. Courts have previously dealt with the standing of a termi-
nated distributor to bring an action alleging violation of §7. Each case has
held that standing was absent, but none under conditions which are pres-
ent in the instant case. In Kirihara v. Bendix Corp.37 and John Lenore &
Co. v. Olympia Brewing Co. 3 damages were sought, and the issue was
standing to bring an action under §4 of the Clayton Act. In Ricchetti v.
Meister Brau, Inc."9 only injunctive relief was sought, but no violation of
§7 was found; thus plaintiffs were denied relief, though their standing to
bring the action was apparently assumed. The Ninth Circuit's concession
of standing where damages are not sought seems preferable to the Fifth
Circuit's approach.

Franchising andtying, which frequently travel together in the world of
antitrust these days, formed the central issues in two Fifth Circuit distri-
bution cases. Kentucky Fried Chicken Corp. v. Diversified Packaging
Corp. 10 was a suit for unfair competition and trademark infringement, the
response to which was an antitrust counterclaim. Defendant distributed to
plaintiffs franchisees containers and other accessories which bore plain-
tiff's registered trademarks. The distribution was made under circum-
stances calculated to mislead purchasers into believing that they were ob-
taining items approved by and meeting the specifications of plaintiff, when
they in fact were not. The court of appeals held that defendant had in-
fringed plaintiffs trademarks" and further noted that: "One cannot read
this record without concluding that Container poached on Kentucky
Fried's chicken coop and did so overtly and avariciously. Container fell just
short of costuming its sales force in the garb of the Colonel, goatee and all.
We uphold the district court's ruling on this issue."'" On the antitrust
counterclaim the court likewise held for plaintiff, Kentucky Fried Chicken
Corporation (KFC).

KFC was the franchisor of Colonel Sanders' Kentucky Fried Chicken in
forty-seven states. Its franchise agreements required franchisees to obtain
certain supplies from KFC or sources it had approved in writing. Franchi-

34. Id. at 38, footnote omitted.
35. Id. at 39.
36. Id. at 40-41.
37. 306 F. Supp. 72 (D. Hawaii 1969).
38. 550 F.2d 495 (9th Cir. 1977), criticized for merging the doctrines of antitrust injury

and standing in Handler, Changing Trends in Antitrust Doctrines: An Unprecedented Su-
preme Court Term-1977, 77 COLUM. L. Rav. 979, 995-97 (1977).

39. 431 F.2d 1211 (9th Cir. 1970).
40. 549 F.2d 368 (5th Cir. 1977).
41. Id. at 390.
42. Id. at 386.
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sees could request that a new source be approved, and KFC was required
by the agreement not to withhold such approval unreasonably. In fact,
KFC had never refused to approve a new source of supply nominated by a
franchisee, although it did require the sources to adhere to fixed standards
for the products supplied. Ten sources had been approved to supply car-
tons to KFC franchisees, with only one of the ten being an affiliate of KFC.
Defendant, without obtaining approval or adhering to KFC's standards,
began supplying cartons, napkins, and utensils to KFC retail outlets. The
cartons were printed with KFC trademarks and were sold as Kentucky
Fried. Chicken boxes and accessories. When KFC discovered defendant's
actions, it brought suit to enjoin the violation of its trademarks and defen-
dant's unfair competition.

Defendant claimed that KFC's approved source requirement constituted
illegal tying or some other per se illegal conduct or was, at least, an unrea-
sonable restraint of trade when measured against the rule of reason. The
court held that it was none of these.' 3

Tying, the court reasoned, requires that the tied product be obtained
from the tying party or that the sale of the tied product benefit the tying
party either through its affiliation with the vendor or through the payment
of commissions to the tying party. KFC did not so benefit from the ap-
proved source requirement either as written or as enforced. While it did
use its power to coerce franchisees to buy only from approved sources, it
did not attempt to force them to buy from it. There was no tie."

Nor was the arrangement an unreasonable restraint of trade: "a market
with ten suppliers and unrestrained entry surely poses a far different prob-
lem than the market available to the victim of a traditional tie: one sup-
plier and no entry."' 5 The court concluded that approved source provisions
should not be accorded per se treatment and that the provision was a
reasonable means to achieve quality control without undue adverse com-
petitive impact.'"

While I am encouraged by the court's sensitivity to the problems of
franchising and readily endorse the court's conclusions, I am dismayed by
the delay involved in the case. The district court's opinion is dated May
23, 1974; the court of appeals', March 25, 1977. Why does it take three
years to affirm a case such as this? Why did the court of appeals find it
necessary to write a lengthy opinion when it had characterized the district
court's as "penetrating,"'" correct on every determinative issue? Sadly, one
concludes that the appellate opinion was written to give its author a vehi-
cle in which to deliver some cute and some very funny lines. 8 It is expen-

43. Id. at 381.
44. Id. at 378.
45. Id.
46. Id. at 381.
47. Id. at 372.
48. "And the bizarre element is the facially implausible-some might say unappetiz-
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sive humor."
In the court's second franchising case, Heatransfer Corp. v. Volkswagen-

werk, A. G., 10 the court affirmed a jury finding of illegal tying, monopoliza-
tion, and merger resulting in a treble-damage award of $15,000,000. The
defendants were Volkswagenwerk, A.G. (VWAG), the German manufac-
turer of Volkswagen automobiles, Volkswagen of America, Inc. (VWoA), a
wholly owned subsidiary of VWAG and the United States importer of
Volkswagen automobiles and parts, Volkswagen South Central Distribu-
tor, Inc. (VWSC), formerly Intercontinental Motors of San Antonio, Texas,
the largest independent distributor of Volkswagen automobiles and parts
in the United States, and Volkswagen Products Corporation (VWPC), for-
merly Delanair Engineering Company, VWoA's approved supplier of air
conditioning units. The plaintiff, Heatransfer, was a distributor and man-
ufacturer of air conditioning units for Volkswagen automobiles.

VWoA imported Volkswagens from Germany without factory installed
air conditioning. During the late 1960's a large customer demand for VW
air conditioners arose and several companies developed units to meet the
particular requirements posed by the Volkswagen automobile. The two
principal competitors were Delanair and Heatransfer, the latter initially
selling a unit by DPD Manufacturing Company. Delanair had a distinct
advantage because its units were given the VWoA stamp of approval; DPD
units were not, although there was no significant difference in the quality
or effectiveness of the two units. Approval was important for two reasons.
First, VWoA purchased, promoted, and distributed approved parts to its
dealers and distributors. Second, the Volkswagen dealer franchise agree-
ment contained provisions requiring the dealer to use his best efforts to
promote the sale of Volkswagen automobiles, parts, and accessories. With-
out approval of the DPD unit, Heatransfer found it increasingly difficult
to sell to VW dealers. In 1968, however, it did succeed in obtaining a
distributor, International Auto Sales in New Orleans, as a customer. In
early 1969 Heatransfer introduced its own air conditioning unit which was
superior in design and ease of installation to the DPD and Delanair units.

ing-contention that the man whose chicken is 'finger-lickin' good' has unclean hands." Id.
"[Almong the Colonel's achievements has been to convince much of the American public
that his product bears a close resemblance to the southern fried chicken that preceded
peanuts as the south's most famous cuisine." Id. "A monolithic tie may bring down the wrath
of per se guilt, but not every use of string tangles with the antitrust laws." Id. at 378. "Finger-
lickin' good chicken alone does not a satisfied customer make." Id. at 381. See also the text,
supra note 42.

49. Not content with the final judgment in the Fifth Circuit case against them, defen-
dants filed an action in Kentucky against KFC. The court of appeals ruled that the Florida
district court should enjoin the relitigation of issues already settled, since it, as the trial court
in the first suit, was in a better position to determine that question than was the federal
district court in Kentucky. Kentucky Fried Chicken Corp. v. Diversified Packaging Corp.,
552 F.2d 601 (5th Cir. 1977).

50. 553 F.2d 964 (5th Cir. 1977).
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Heatransfer sought, but did not obtain VWoA approval of the new unit.
Nonetheless, in June 1969 Intercontinental began purchasing more Heat-
transfer air conditioners than any other model. But in September 1969,
VWoA acquired Delanair as a wholly-owned subsidiary, renaming it
VWPC; the next month VWoA acquired Intercontinental Motors, which
became VWSC. Heatransfer sales began to plummet. After June 1971 it
sold no units to VWSC; its last sale to any distributor was in June 1972.
Despite efforts to develop other markets, Heatransfer consistently lost
money and was liquidated in 1974.

The court first analyzed the jury's finding of unlawful tying. VWoA
unquestionably had power in the tying product, Volkswagen automobiles. 51

The court found ample evidence to support the conclusion that the best
efforts clause, as enforced, coerced dealers and distributors to stock the
Delanair/VWPC units, although the franchise agreement on its face gave
them the right to stock other units. The totality of the circumstances, and
not the best efforts clause standing alone, dictated the per se treatment
as a de facto tie.5"

Paying particular attention to the functional engineering distinctiveness
of air conditioners for Volkswagens as well as to the fact that manufactur-
ers of these units rarely made units for other make automobiles, the court
concluded that the jury was justified in determining the relevant market
to be the manufacture and sale of air conditioners for Volkswagen automo-
biles. 53 Defendants' share of this market approximated 75%; they possessed
monopoly power. The unlawful tying arrangements and the acquisition of
Delanair and Intercontinental Motors supplied the necessary intent to
acquire or maintain that power. Defendants were guilty of monopoliza-
tion.5" Additionally, VWoA's acquisitions of Delanair and Intercontinental
Motors were held to violate §7 of the Clayton Act.5 Concluding that causa-
tion5" and damages"7 had adequately been proven, the court of appeals
affirmed the jury verdict in all respects.

IV. CONDOMINIUMS

Condominiums are big business in Florida; it is thus not surprising that
much of the antitrust law regulating their development and sale is being

51. A more precise analysis might suggest that the tying product is the franchise rather
than the automobiles, but since VWoA clearly has power in either product, the result is the
same.

52. 553 F.2d at 979.
53. This includes Porsche and Audi autos.
54. 553 F.2d at 981. This same conduct constituted a §1 conspiracy in restraint of trade.

Id. at 979.
55. Id. at 982. The court rejected, as had the jury, the failing company defense. Id. at 982-

83.
56. Id. at 983.
57. Id. at 983-89. Of particular interest is the court's discussion of Brunswick Corp. v.

Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., - U.S. - , 97 S.Ct. 690, 50 L.Ed.2d 701 (1977). Id. at 984-85.
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formulated in the Fifth Circuit. Decisions on procedural issues were ren-
dered in four civil treble damage actions alleging illegal tying of recrea-
tional leases to the sale of condominium units. Standing remained a
threshold barrier to successful invocation of §4 of the Clayton Act. 5 In
Burleigh House Condominium, Inc. v. Buchwald5l the court followed its
1976 ruling in Buckley Towers Condonimium, Inc. v. Buchwald" that a
non-profit Florida corporation of condominium owners does not have
standing to bring a treble damage action on behalf of purchasers injured
by the violation of § § 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act. The result seems techni-
cally proper since the corporation has not suffered the required injury to
its business or property; from a policy perspective, the ready availability
of class action or individual proceedings for treble damages and injunctive
relief ought to provide sufficient protection to the victims.'

The importance and suitability of class actions to determine the rights
condominium owners have against the developer are implicitly recognized
by the court of appeals in Guerine v. J & W Investment, Inc., 2 vacating
the district court's order decertifying the class action. Plaintiffs had ob-
tained new counsel subsequent to the events upon which the trial court had
based its ruling; the court of appeals therefore ordered an evidentiary
hearing to determine the adequacy of representation of the class under
these changed circumstances." Additionally, the appellate court held that

58. 15 U.S.C.A. §15 (1973).
59. 546 F.2d 57 (5th Cir. 1977).
60. 533 F.2d 934 (5th Cir. 1976).
61. Standing was also discussed in Hennessey v. National Collegiate Athletic Ass'n, 564

F.2d 1136, 1147-48 (5th Cir. 1977), and was the basis for the holding in Donovan Constr. Co.
of Minn. v. Florida Tel. Corp., 564 F.2d 1191 (5th Cir. 1977) that plaintiff was not within the
target area of defendant's acts and thus lacked standing.

62. 544 F.2d 863 (5th Cir. 1977).
63. Although constrained by the Supreme Court's ruling in Eisen v. Carlisle & Jacqueline,

417 U.S. 156 (1974), the Fifth Circuit dealt with the class action notice issue presented by In
re Nissan Motor Corp. Antitrust Litigation, 552 F.2d 1088 (5th Cir. 1977), in a manner
demonstrating concern for the rights of class members to reasonable notice and not merely
judicial aversion to the use of Rule 23(b)(3) class actions to protect the rights of immense
groups of consumers. In that consolidated pre-trial proceeding involving twenty-eight class
actions on behalf of the purchasers of 371,000 new Datsun motor vehicles against Nissan
Motor Corp. in U.S.A., its Japanese parent corporation, and its dealers, the court ordered
notices to the class members informing them of the existence of the suits and of pending
settlements. The district court had required separate notices. The court of appeals modified
the order to allow a combined notice, thus cutting the cost of preparation and mailing
approximately in half. The other portion of the court's ruling, dealing with the method and
expense of preparation of the list of names and addresses of class members, seems likewise
to have been decided with concern for the class members and not primarily with a view to
placing insurmountable barriers before the plaintiffs. Two sources of names and addresses
were available: Nissan's computerized listing of current owners of Datsun vehicles and the
retail delivery report cards completed at the time of sale. The principal difficulty with the
former was that the persons listed were not necessarily class members. Persons who had
purchased the vehicles second hand would appear on the printout although not class mem-
bers; even more significantly, the original purchasers who had sold their Datsuns would not
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the pendency of state court litigation involving the same matters between
the same parties did not provide a basis for the dismissal of the federal
court complaint. Federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction over proceed-
ings under the federal antitrust laws; abstention under the Younger v.
Harris" doctrine is, therefore, inappropriate."

Another significant issue presented by the condominium tying litigation
was the application of the statute of limitation contained in §4B of the
Clayton Act, which requires that a treble damage suit be "commenced
within four years after the cause of action accrued.""6 Imperial Point Co-
lonnades Condominium, Inc. v. Mangurian" and Spitz v. Buchwald5 both
presented treble damage actions which had been filed more than four years
after the execution of the contracts constituting the alleged tie. The Fifth
Circuit delivered an extended opinion in Imperial Point thoroughly review-
ing the jurisprudence and the facts of the case before holding the action
to be timely. The decision in Spitz followed Imperial Point without signifi-
cant analysis, although the facts ostensibly relied upon by the court as the
basis for its holding in Imperial Point were absent in the latter case. The
two cases must, therefore, be analyzed together in order to determine the
actual holding of both, for it is apparent that the stated rule of Imperial
Point is not the true basis for the Spitz decision.

Imperial Point Colonnades Condominium, a 552 unit residential con-
dominium, was developed by Drexel Properties, Inc. (Drexel), a Florida
corporation owned by Harry T. Mangurian, Jr." Mangurian also owned
land adjacent to the condominium's recreational facilities, which he
leased for 99 years to Drexel. Purchasers of individual condominium units
were required, pursuant to the Declaration of Condominium, to accept
assignment from Drexel of an undivided 1/552 interest in the lease and to
assume Drexel's obligation to Mangurian for that proportion of the rent.

appear on the list although they were still class members. For this reason, the court of appeals
required the plaintiffs to use the cards, although the procedure was far more costly and time
consuming than obtaining a computer printout. Although much of the argument of the
parties centered upon the issue of who would bear the cost of the preparation of the mailing
list, this issue should not be seen as dispositive. The court could easily have ordered Nissan
to produce the computer list upon payment of the cost by the plaintiffs. One must hope that
the court would have so ordered if it had found the computer list equal or superior to one
produced manually from the cards. Although protection of class members must be para-
mount, there is no excuse for the imposition of heavy burdens upon the representative plain-
tiffs merely out of anti-class action animus. The Fifth Circuit seems to have avoided the
Supreme Court's vexatious disposition to destroy the class action as an antitrust remedy. See
L. Sullivan, HANDBOOK OF THE LAw OF ANTITRUST, §249a, particularly at 780-82 (1977) (herein-
after cited as Sullivan).

64. 401 U.S. 37 (1971).
65. 544 F.2d at 865, citing Miller v. Granados, 529 F.2d 393 (5th Cir. 1976).
66. 15 U.S.C.A. §15b (1973).
67. 549 F.2d 1029 (5th Cir. 1977).
68. 551 F.2d 1051 (5th Cir. 1977).
69. Mangurian was also the president and sole director of Drexel.

19781



MERCER LAW REVIEW

The condominium unit was pledged as security for the rent payments.
Subsequent purchasers of any unit were required to assume these obliga-
tions. The rent was subject to a cost-of-living escalator clause, with adjust-
ments consistent with the Consumer Price Index to be made on April 1,
1972, and every three years thereafter.

Plaintiffs Wyant purchased their unit and assumed the lessee's obliga-
tions from Drexel on May 28, 1969; plaintiff Thompson did likewise on July
28, 1970. Suit was filed by them70 on January 8, 1975, against Mangurian
and Drexel alleging that conditioning the purchase of condominium units
upon assumption of obligations under the recreational lease constituted a
tying agreement violative of §1 of the Sherman Act and §3 of the Clayton
Act. The complaint also charged Mangurian and Drexel with conspiracy
in restraint of interstate commerce in the implementation of the tying
agreement and the enforcement of the recreational lease. The plaintiffs
sought treble damages, injunctive relief, and a declaration that the lease
assignments by Drexel to individual purchasers were void.

The defendants invoked the four year statute of limitations to the dam-
age claim and pled laches in response to the equitable relief being sought.

The issue was when the cause of action of each plaintiff "accrued."
Plaintiffs argued that Mangurian's quarterly collection of rent and his
action increasing the rent under the cost-of-living escalator clause were
injurious acts in the continuing antitrust conspiracy, each giving rise to a
separate cause of action. Under this multiple cause of action theory, the
limitations period began to run against each separate cause at the time of
the specific act. Thus plaintiffs could recover damages caused by the acts
of defendants occurring from January 8, 1971, to January 8, 1975. Defen-
dants claimed that only one cause of action was involved and that it had
accrued at the time the alleged tying agreement was entered into by each
plaintiff. Since more than four years had elapsed, the action was barred.
So ruled the district court,7 ' relying upon the Fifth Circuit's latest pro-
nouncement in Poster Exchange, Inc. v. National Screen Service Corp."
The district court found that if a tie occurred, it was with the assignment
of the lease to plaintiffs.

The purported violation was then 'final at its impact' and 'permanent
at its initiation' because no further act by the defendants was necessary
to inflict the damage here complained of. Whatever cause of action these
plaintiffs might have had, accrued at the signing of the lease, and the
limitations period began to run at that time. The positions of the parties
have not changed. 73

70. The suit named the Association as a plaintiff and was filed as a class action, but the
court denied class certification and dismissed the Association as a party because it lacked
standing. 549 F.2d at 1033, n.8.

71. Imperial Points Colonnades Condominium, Inc. v. Mangurian, 407 F. Supp. 870, 872
(S.D.Fla. 1976).

72. 517 F.2d 117 (5th Cir. 1975).
73. 407 F.Supp. at 872.
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The lower court dismissed plaintiffs' claim of multiple causes of action
arising from separate acts with the comment that "the fact that these
plaintiffs are still obligated to pay rent pursuant to an action taken five
and six years ago, respectively, is merely the 'abatable but unabated iner-
tial consequences of some pre-limitations action.' "I' The court of appeals
reversed, holding

that so long as Mangurian continues to collect rent from these plaintiffs
under the lease, plaintiffs' causes of action for the conspiracy continue to
accrue . . . . [Pilaintiffs may sue only for damages that result from acts
committed by the defendants within the four years preceding commence-
ment of suit. That means that these plaintiffs now are barred from seeking
rental collected by Mangurian before that time."5

The court of appeals' application of this rule in Spitz, decided the follow-
ing month, must cause one to question the importance of the Fifth Cir-
cuit's qualifying language in Imperial Point. In that prior case, after ana-
lyzing the Supreme Court's most recent decision on the antitrust statute
of limitations, Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc.,"6 as inter-
preted in the circuit's Poster Exchange case,77 the court of appeals repeat-
edly emphasized the necessity of damages flowing from an "act committed
by the defendant""5 during the four year period preceding the filing of the
action. The court indicates that this requirement may be satisfied by the
defendant's continuing receipt of benefits under an illegal contract." Yet
in Spitz, the court applied the rule that plaintiffs could recover damages
for the limitations period in spite of the apparent absence of such acts by
the defendants during that period.

In Spitz, the organizational structure was significantly different than in
Imperial Point. Herbert Buchwald, the developer, simultaneously trans-
ferred the condonimium units to Buckley Development Corporation
(Buckley Development) and leased recreation facilities for 99 years to
Buckley Towers Condominium, Inc. (Buckley Towers). The lease required
Buckley Towers, the non-profit incorporated association of unit owners in
the condominium, to pay the monthly rental for the recreational facilities
to Buchwald and to assess each unit owner his ratable share. The Declara-
tion of Condominium provided that each unit owner is bound by the lease
as if he were a signatory party to it, with his unit interest subject to a lien
in favor of Buchwald to secure performance of all of the lessee's covenants.
Subjection of purchasers of the condominium units to these obligations is
alleged to constitute the tie.

74. Id. The court's quotation is from Poster Exchange, 517 F.2d at 128.
75. 549 F.2d at 1043-44.
76. 401 U.S. 321 (1971).
77. 517 F.2d 117 (5th Cir. 1975).
78. 549 F.2d at 1035 (emphasis in original).
79. Id. at 1036.
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Buchwald entered into the recreational lease with Buckley Towers and
transferred the condonimiums to Buckley Development on December 17,
1968. Spitz bought his unit on February 29, 1968; the last unit was sold
by Buckley Development on April 8, 1971. Suit was filed on August 6, 1975.
Without discussing the factual distinctions or analyzing the elements of
this case, the court held that its decision in Imperial Point was controlling:
"We have held in this factual context, however, that elements of plaintiffs'
cause of action continue to accrue as defendants collect or increase the
amount of rent under a contract either unlawful of itself or the product of
an unlawful conspiracy."8 0 Significantly, the requirement of the holding in
Imperial Point that the collection be "from these plaintiffs under the
lease""' is deleted in the language used by the court in Spitz. Although this
omission indicates the court's awareness of the variance between the situa-
tions presented by the two cases, we are given no guidance in determining
what rule the court is striving for. In Imperial Point, the court character-
ized the rule to be gleaned from the majority of recent decisions to be "that
the plaintiff's cause of action . . . continues to accrue for so long as the
defendant takes advantage of the contract in question. '8 Is mere receipt
of benefits, indirectly channeled through and collected by an independent83

entity, a sufficient act by the defendant to give rise to damages, not merely
the "abatable but unabated intertial consequences"84 of the execution of
the lease or the tying arrangement?

The court's Imperial Point and Spitz opinions raise other questions
about the Fifth Circuit's interpretation of the statutory language and the
rules for the commencement of the running of the statute of limitations.
Is the court operating with a multiple cause of action theory or a single
cause of action theory with respect to continuing antitrust violations? It is
difficult to discern from the court's analysis or the language of its opinion,
since it vacillates between the singular and the plural frequently enough
to convince one that the court itself is unsure. Do the decisions turn on the
allegation of conspiracy? The court indicates in a footnote in Imperial
Point that it does not, that the result would be identical if a single defen-
dant were involved." Since the court does not indicate that any conspiracy
was alleged in Spitz, it seems truly unimportant to the court. But the

80. Id. at 1053.
81. Id. at 1043.
82. Id. at 1036.
83. Buckley Towers Condominium, Inc. had convincingly demonstrated its independence

from Buchwald by filing two suits against him, both of which he vigorously defended. Buckley

Towers Condominium, Inc. v. Buchwald, 533 F.2d 934 (5th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 97 S.Ct.

1157 (1977), and Buckley Towers Condominium, Inc. v. Buchwald, 321 So.2d 628 (Fla. 1975).

84. Poster Exchange, 517 F.2d at 128, quoted in Imperial Point, 407 F.Supp. at 872. But

see Buckley Towers, 533 F.2d at 938, in which the court characterized the association as

merely "a conduit in collecting the assessments from the unit owners and paying the rental

to the appellees."
85. 549 F.2d at 1043, n.24.
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court, if it is developing a theory of the continuing unilateral antitrust
violation, is breaking new ground probably unintended by Congress." Such
a theory seems uncharacteristically expansive for the Fifth Circuit which,
prior to its submission in Poster Exchange7 to the Supreme Court's clear
statement in Zenith,"' had rejected the theory of continuing conspiracy. If
not based upon continuing conspiracy or continuing unilateral conduct
theories, the court's holdings must be explained by a multiple cause of
action analysis, which, unfortunately, is singularly inappropriate in the
tying context. Does the collection of each payment under a tying agree-
ment give rise to a cause of action distinct from the cause of action flowing
from the tie itself? If so, what are the elements of each? What are the
damages?

These questions, unanswered and perhaps unanswerable, accentuate the
difficulties in the court of appeals' decisions. The essence of the cause of
action in each case is the imposition of the tie, not the subsequent collec-
tion of rentals. The cause of action accrues at the time of the purchase.
The period of limitation begins to run at the time of the purchase. The
collection or mere receipt of rental payments should not be deemed to
constitute the accrual of a new cause of action or the continuing accrual
of the elements of the original cause of action (whatever that inartful
judicial formulation may be supposed to mean). To hold otherwise, as the
court did, is to give a victim of the alleged tie of the purchase of a condomi-
nium unit to a 99 year recreational lease, a period of 103 years within which
to bring suit for treble damages. To call that a statute of limitations seems
absurd.

There is, however, a proper reluctance to allow the developer to enforce
the tied agreement after the expiration of the initial four-year period. This
concern, which apparently motivated the court's questionable decisions, is
easily accommodated. The statute of limitations of §4B of the Clayton Act
only governs actions for damages; it does not bar injunctive or declaratory
relief, which are subject to a plea of laches. Since both suits sought such
equitable remedies, the court could have held the damage action barred
by the statute, but have permitted the pursuit of the other remedies. Since
laches is not favored in antitrust cases,"8 an injunction preventing the
enforcement of a contract procured by an illegal tying agreement ought to
be granted at any time during the term of the contract. After the initial
four year period, suits might be brought seeking relief from oppressive
contracts but not seeking immense treble damage awards.

86. See Wheeler and Jones, The Statute of Limitations for Antitrust Damage Actions:
Four Years or Forty?, 41 CHI. L. REv. 72 (1973).

87. 517 F.2d at 123-24.
88. 401 U.S. at 338-42.
89. P. Areeda, ANTITRUST ANALYSIS at 98, n.332 (1974).
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V. SPORTS ASSOCIATIONS

Courts have historically found it easier to apply the prohibitions of the
Sherman Act to activities of a clearly commercial nature than to those of
associations regulating the conduct of members ostensibly in the public
interest. In Chicago Board of Trade9" the Supreme Court applied rule of
reason analysis to a horizontal restraint which, absent the public interest
rationale, would have been treated as per se illegal.' Similarly, self-
regulatory sports associations have received lenient treatment under the
antitrust laws,92 even though they may be characterized economically as
cartels.9 3 The Fifth Circuit remained true to this tradition in deciding cases
brought against the American Quarter Horse Association (AQHA) and the
National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA).

Hatley v. American Quarter Horse Association" was an action brought
by the owner of a horse denied registration by AQHA. Plaintiff alleged that
the denial constituted a group boycott and that Texas law had been vio-
lated by AQHA's failure to hold a hearing, thus abridging plaintiff's right
to due process." Registration was denied to Hatley's horse, Naturally
High, on the grounds of white markings in excess of those permitted by
AQHA's Rule 92A. No consideration was given by AQHA to use of the
hardship provision of Rule 92C which allows discretionary registration of
a quarter horse "outstanding in conformation and having a sire or dam of
outstanding performance," although Naturally High's conformation and
pedigree were superior."

The court of appeals found the AQHA subject to the antitrust laws and
characterized its denial of registration as a group boycott. However, it
accorded rule of reason treatment, relying upon Silver v. New York Stock
Exchange." The court's reasoning focused upon the nature of AQHA and
its purpose:

90. Board of Trade v. United States, 246 U.S. 231 (1918).
91. See Sullivan §66.
92. Note, Tackling Intercollegiate Athletics: An Antitrust Analysis, 87 YA L. J. 655

(1978).
93. "Despite the claims of the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) that it

is a champion of amateur athletics and physical fitness in colleges and universities, the NCAA
is in fact a business cartel composed of university-firms which have varying desires to restrict
competition and maximize profits in the area of intercollegiate athletics." Koch, A Troubled
Cartel: The NCAA, 38 LAw & CONTEMP. PRos. 135 (1973).

94. 552 F.2d 646 (5th Cir. 1977).
95. Texas grants due process rights to members of associations for the protection of their

rights of membership. Id. at 655.
96. Naturally High's sire, Mr. Jet Moore, was the AQHA's 1972 World Champion Run-

ning Horse. Id. at 649. "Of the animals registered as undue hardship cases under 92C, none
were superior, and some were inferior, to Naturally High in conformation and pedigree." Id.
at 651.

97. 373 U.S. 341 (1963). But see Sullivan at 237-38 interpreting Silver as a per se case.
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In an industry which necessarily requires some interdependence and
cooperation, the per se rule should not be applied indiscriminately. In
some sporting enterprises a few rules are essential to survival. The defini-
tion. of a quarter horse is an inquiry which the AQHA, as a sanctioning
organization, ought to be able to pursue. If the inquiry is anti-competitive,
the rule of reason can be utilized to attack it."

Carefully distinguishing the facts of the instant case from those in Silver,
the court found the restraint reasonable, as had the district court. Addi-
tionally, the court of appeals found that there was no conspiracy because
the action complained of was taken by the AQHA through its officers and
employees." 'Plaintiff's §2 claim was disposed of with the conclusion that
AQHA's monopoly power was used to promote, rather than restrain, com-
petition.'"

Hatley was, however, accorded relief'0 I on his Texas due process claim.
Under Texas law, procedural due process rights must be accorded by a
voluntary association making a decision affecting the proprietary interests
of a member. 02 AQHA's conduct failed to meet the requirements of due
process because it involved a "subjective determination requir[ing] the
exercise of discretion."103 Thus a hearing was required, and the failure to
provide one tainted the decision.

Several aspects of the opinion deserve attention. Most notable is the
invocation of rule of reason analysis to determine the legality of conduct
which is usually considered a per se violation of §1 of the Sherman Act.
Although the conduct of AQHA was a group boycott, I find persuasive the
court's reasoning in measuring the restraint in this case by the rule of
reason, but I believe that the court should have concluded that the re-
straint was unreasonable. By focusing upon the details in Silver and by

98. 552 F.2d at 652-53.
99. Id. at 654, n.7. The court's erroneous conclusion in this regard apparently follows from

the failure of plaintiffs counsel to understand the nature of the §1 claim and to set it forth
properly in the pleadings. The conspiracy was not merely the actions taken by AQHA, its
Executive Committee, and a staff employee; it was, rather, the action of cartelization of the
industry enforced by the group boycott. When viewed in this light, it can be seen that AQHA
is the cartel organization. Its decision not to register Naturally High will be enforced through
a group boycott by conspiring AQHA members and promoters of AQHA sanctioned shows.
See Koch, A Troubled Cartel: The NCAA, 38 LAw & CoNTEMP. PROBS. 135 (1973).

One must additionally wonder if the court is being consistent in characterizing the defen-
dants' conduct as a group boycott in the absence of a conspiracy. The treatment of the
conspiracy question in footnote 7 seems to be an afterthought, an ill-conceived make-weight
rationale. The court's analysis of this problem in the NCAA case is much better. See text
infra at note 11.

100. 552 F.2d at 654.
101. The district court.ordered that Naturally High be registered. The court of appeals

modified the order, requiring the district court to determine whether Naturally High is a
quarter horse and should be registered under the AQHA standards. Id. at 657.

102. Id. at 655.
103. Id. at 657.
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attempting to restrict the holding to those facts, the court of appeals
reached a questionable antitrust conclusion in AQHA; it failed to apply
Silver's requirement of procedural fairness to the conduct of the AQHA
in determining the reasonableness of the restraint involved."°4

The message of Silver is that where Congress has authorized the devel-
opment of private sanctions (and inferentially, perhaps, in any situation
where it is concluded that private standards and private sanctions are
warranted) those sanctions may be imposed only after a fair proceeding.
Silver surely does not imply that in situations where Congress has not
authorized self-regulation, all that is needed to validate a program having
boycott effects is procedural fairness. Rather it implies that where a self-
regulatory program is otherwise valid, either because sanctioned by Con-
gress or because considering all other factors it is justifiable, it must then
meet also the final hurdle of procedural fairness."'

It would seem that the very conduct which violated Texas due process
violated the Sherman Act as interpreted in Silver. What an anomaly to
hold otherwise! Hatley filed his action in the Western District of Oklahoma
from which it was transferred'" to the Northern District of Texas, where
the headquarters of AQHA were located. It was only after the transfer of
the action that Hatley appended his state law claim to what was believed
to be basically an antitrust suit. But for the location of AQHA and the
occasion of the discretionary transfer, Hatley would have lost.', 7 The crux
of the case is the anticompetitive act; it should have been decided on that
basis. As the cburt noted,'0 procedural fairness is related to the reasonable-
ness of restraints by self-regulatory associations. Following Silver, the fail-
ure to afford procedural safeguards should result in the condemnation of
such practices at the outset of the inquiry. Only if procedural fairness is
provided need the court weigh the substantive reasonableness of the rule
and its application to the specific case.' °0

104. Because the Fifth Circuit held that there was no antitrust requirement of a hearing
since the facts were undisputed, it should be noted that although the issue in Silver was
factual, in AQHA it was a question of the standard to be applied in the exercise of the
association's discretion. Therefore, a hearing was important although the facts were uncon-
tested.

105. Sullivan at 251.
106. The transfer was under the provisions of 28 U.S.C.A. §1404(a) (1976).
107. But see Silver, 373 U.S. at 365 nn.17 & 18 indicating that the due process right

recognized in Texas may have a widespread existence.
108. 552 F.2d at 654, n.8.
109. For an example of facts which should be held unreasonable on substantive grounds

even if procedural safeguards had been provided, see Courtesy Chevrolet, Inc. v. Tennessee
Walking Horse Ass'n, 344 F.2d 860 (9th Cir. 1965), in which, although the plaintiff "had
violated none of the Association's 'rules' save that of disagreeing with the executive secretary
and the board of directors and failing to appear in Tennessee when arbitrarily ordered
to-acts not forbidden by any of its by-laws-nevertheless the Association denied to it in
California as well as Tennessee, even services normally and regulary [sic] given to non-
members." Id. at 865.
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The Fifth Circuit's second case of this type was Hennesy v. National
Collegiate Athletic Ass'n. 10 The NCAA in 1975 promulgated a rule limiting
the number of assistant football and basketball coaches which could be
employed by major universities. Plaintiffs were reduced from full-time to
part-time coaching status by their employer, the University of Alabama,
because of the new rule. They brought suit to have the rule declared invalid
or inapplicable to them on a number of state law grounds and as a violation
of §1 of the Sherman Act. The district court, in a detailed, thorough opin-
ion decided in favor of the defendant. The Fifth Circuit affirmed per cur-
iam "the judgment" of the district court "which was based upon the find-
ings of fact and conclusions of law contained in the district court's Memo-
randum of Opinion""' which the court of appeals reproduced as an appen-
dix to its order. One is left wondering about the meaning of the appellate
court's action. It did not specifically approve or adopt the district court's
reasoning but merely affirmed the judgment. If the court intended the
uncertainty it has produced, it is guilty of a poor judicial practice; if
unintentional, the charge is artless draftsmanship. Nonetheless, with ap-
propriate warning that the conclusions of law are not those of the court of
appeals, the opinion merits analysis." 2

The court began with a proper assessment of the §1 conspiracy alleged
by the action. The court was unconcerned that the NCAA was the only
defendant; "conceptually the adoption and execution of the NCAA Bylaw
can be seen as the agreement and concern of action of the various members
of the association, as well as that of the association itself.""' The NCAA
is a cartel;'" recognition of this fact does not end the inquiry but rather
places it in a perspective in which correct analysis is possible."5

The court next disposed of the contentions that the NCAA's activities
were not subject to antitrust scrutiny under the educational and state
action exemptions to Sherman Act coverage. The court correctly concluded
that after Goldfarb'" the claimed exemptions are inapplicable and the
NCAA is subject to antitrust prohibitions."7

110. 564 F.2d 1136 (5th Cir. 1977).
111. Id. at 1140.
112. Focus will be on the antitrust issue, the only part of the opinion within the scope of

this article. The other holdings were that the bylaw applied to plaintiffs, that defendant was
not guilty of tortious interference with plaintiffs' contractual rights, and that plaintiffs had
not been denied equal protection or due process, although the court concluded that "the
NCAA's activities are the equivalent of state action for purposes of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment." Id. at 1144 citing Parish v. National Collegiate Athletic Ass'n, 506 F.2d 1028 (5th Cir.
1975).

113. 564 F.2d at 1147.
114. See Koch, supra note 93.
115. In a case such as this, the only difficult issue will usually be the reasonableness of

the restraint. The threshold issues of coverage and exemption have been settled by Goldfarb.
116. Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar, 421 U.S. 773 (1975).
117. 564 F.2d at 1148-49.
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Intercollegiate athletics is big business. The interstate nature of this
commerce can hardly be denied. The court, in a clear analysis, found that
not only was the NCAA engaged in interstate commerce, but that the
activity restrained was interstate in character. Coaching is an integral part
of the athletic programs, and a significant portion of these services is
rendered in conjunction with interstate travel. The market affected, assist-
ant coaching jobs, is multi-state and perhaps national. Interstate com-
merce had been restrained." 8

The crux of the decision, then, is the applicability and the application
of the rule of reason to the NCAA Bylaw. Plaintiffs urged classification of
the restraint as a group boycott, per se illegal. The court, however, charac-
terized it as a division of market shares among conspirators."' Although
this latter restraint, too, is usually meted per se treatment, the court held
the rule of reason to be the proper standard.'n 0 In essence, the court inter-
preted Goldfarb as having subjected the NCAA to the antitrust laws, but
with its activities to be judged under the rule of reason. 2 ' Finding the
motive in adopting the bylaw to be procompetitive' 2 and the relative posi-
tive and negative effects to be as yet determinable, the court held the
restraint reasonable. The NCAA was given the benefit of the doubt; 3 its
determination that the bylaw embodied the least restrictive means of ac-
complishing its purposes was accepted without significant analysis by the
court.'

It seems reasonable to construe the court of appeals' treatment of the
district court opinion in NCAA as indicative of approval of the general
approach to the antitrust issues, even if not full approval of all of the
individual points analyzed. When read together, the AQHA and NCAA
decisions indicate the adoption of a relaxed standard of antitrust scrutiny
of the activities of self-regulating sports associations,'25 a result flowing
logically from Goldfarb's inclusion of such associations within the regula-
tion of the Sherman Act.

118. This analysis is comparable to that in Goldfarb, and is preferable to the loose han-
dling of these issues in Morgan v. Odem, 552 F.2d 147 (5th Cir. 1977).

119. 564 F.2d at 1151.
120. Id.
121. See Goldfarb, 421 U.S. at 787-88, n.17.
122. In this antitrust context we are concerned with commercial, not sporting, competi-

tion. The economic activities of the NCAA and its member institutions in obtaining players
and coaches, and selling tickets and broadcast rights, are the focal point of our analysis of
pro and anti competitive effects.

123. Placing the burden of proving that the restraint adopted is not the least restrictive
available upon the plaintiff rather than upon the defendant which adopted'it, seems a bit
illogical.

124. But see Note, Tackling Intercollegiate Athletics: An Antitrust Analysis, 87 YALE L.
J. 655, 677 & n.111 (1978), criticizing this conclusion.

125. One case decided by the Fifth Circuit this term does not indicate special leniency,
but that may be because a decision in favor of the sports association was possible under
traditional standards. In Golf City, Inc. v. Wilson Sporting Goods, Inc., 555 F.2d 426 (5th
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VI. ET CETERA

Several Fifth Circuit cases in 1977 do not fit any of the above categories
but merit passing note. Wilson P. Abraham Construction Corp. v. Armco
Steel Corp. ,"I involved the issue of attorney conflict of interest. Co-counsel
for plaintiff had represented in earlier related proceedings a co-defendant
of the defendants in the instant matter. Defendants alleged that counsel
was privy to confidential information furnished by them to his former
client in preparing the defense in the prior matter. The court held that

when information is exchanged between various co-defendants and their
attorneys that this exchange is not made for the purpose of allowing un-
limited publication and use, but rather, the exchange is made for the
limited purpose of assisting in their common cause. In such a situation,
an attorney who is the recipient of such information breaches his fiduciary
duty if he later, in his representation of another client, is able to use this
information to the detriment of one of the co-defendants.'27

The court remanded for a determination of whether counsel was a recipient
of such confidential information in the prior proceedings. If so, he would
be disqualified from representing plaintiff in this case.

Also involving the relationship of procedures in criminal and civil ac-
tions was Texas v. United States Steel Corp.2 1 The court of appeals held
that the plaintiff must show particularized need in order to obtain discov-
ery of transcripts of corporate defendants' employees' testimony before a
federal grand jury in related proceedings. The court rejected the contention
that a lesser showing was required to discover the transcripts in the posses-

Cir. 1977), a treble damage action by a golf equipment retailer against equipment manufac-
turers, alleging that the widespread practice of selling pro-line golf equipment only through
pro shops and not retail stores was the result of a conspiracy, the court found venue improper
as to the Professional Golfers' Association of America (PGA). This decision is in line with
other judicial interpretation of §12 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C.A. §22 (1971), permitting
suit to be brought against a corporation in any district where it is an inhabitant, may be
found, or transacts business. The court held that the presence of members in, the mailing of
its golf magazine to, and the availability of membership applications in the district did not
constitute the transaction of business. Accord, Friends of Animals, Inc. v. American Veteri-
nary Medical Ass'n, 310 F. Supp. 620 (S.D.N.Y. 1970). Nor were the actions of an indepen-
dent, but related, legal entity which sponsored golf tournaments in the district attributable
to PGA. See, San Antonio Tel. Co. v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 499 F.2d 349 (5th Cir. 1974).
The situation was quite different in Black v. Acme Markets, Inc., 564 F.2d 681 (5th Cir. 1977),
with the court finding venue proper in a district from which defendant purchased $1,500,000
worth of supplies.

The remainder of the Golf City opinion is not remarkable, except to note that the case was
remanded to the district court for entry of findings which would clearly indicate the basis for
its decision. The court of appeals complained that it could not determine from the opinion
the actual basis for the decision. The criticism is apt; it applies equally to the Fifth Circuit's
own opinion in Hennessey v. NCAA.

126. 559 F.2d 250 (5th Cir. 1977).
127. Id. at 253.
128. 546 F.2d 626 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 98 S. Ct. 262, 54 L.Ed.2d 174 (1977).
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sion of the corporations pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure
16(a)(1)(A) than would be necessary if they were in the hands of the indi-
vidual witnesses. The court held that the same cloak of grand jury secrecy
obtains in either case.

The holding in International Tel. & Tel. Corp. v. United Tel. Co. of
Fla.'2" was that estoppel prevented the plaintiff from relitigating matters
it could have raised in hearings to which it was a party before the Florida
Public Service Commission. Since the Commission proceedings were not
a sham or frivolous, under the concept of primary jurisdiction the plaintiff
should have raised its contentions in that forum, which under state law
had jurisdiction over the dispute. Failure to so do forclosed the matter from
judicial consideration.

United States v. Flom 30 presents the reversal of a conviction for violation
of §1 of the Sherman Act due to prosecutorial misconduct. At trial "the
government flagrantly departed from the unambiguous statement of the
bill that no evidence of particular contracts would be offered because it had
no such evidence in its possession."'' When the government suddenly
offered such evidence during trial defendants objected, without avail. The
convictions were reversed.

VII. CONCLUSION

We have seen the central role played by the Fifth Circuit in the refine-
ment of antitrust exemptions and the formulation of the doctrine applied
to condominiums. Sporting associations, though clearly subject to anti-
trust control after Goldfarb, 12 are frequently subjected to less rigid scru-
tiny than are purely commercial ventures, with rule of reason analysis
being applied to otherwise per se violations. Problems of standing and
antitrust damages continue to plague the court; the issues apparent in
Brunswick v. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat3

1 remain to be worked out. Perhaps the
most persistent difficulty of the court is an inability to precisely character-
ize complicated antitrust claims for analysis. As the bar becomes more
sophisticated it could assist the court through clear pleadings reflecting a
well thought out conception of the case. One must, however, in fine pro-
nounce that antitrust is alive and well in the Fifth Circuit.

129. 550 F.2d 287 (5th Cir. 1977).
130. 558 F.2d 1179 (5th Cir. 1977).
131. Id. at 1185.
132. 421 U.S. 773 (1975).
133. - U.S. __, 97 S. Ct. 50, 50 L.Ed.2d 701 (1977).
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